RECEIVED

08-24-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No.16-AP-1284-CR

RICARDO L. CONCEPCION.

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DENIAL OF POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR KENOSHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ANTHONY G. MILISAUSKAS, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

GARY GRASS State Bar No. 1035738

2132 N. 33rd St. Milwaukee, WI 53208 Telephone (414) 447-8369

Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

Ι

Did the off-duty policeman's hunt for and seizure of missing or stolen materials, penetration of locked containers, and playing of a DVD out of suspicion that it contained child pornography, constitute a law enforcement search such that the Fourth Amendment applies?

The circuit court answered NO.

Π

Did the sentencing court err by failing to consider individual mitigating factors and giving undue weight to unexceptional or generic aggravating factors, or by rendering a sentence that was inexplicably harsh in relative terms?

The circuit court answered NO.

III

Did the circuit court err by failing to consider arguments that trial counsel was ineffective at sentencing when she failed to supply the court with mitigating information, place the run-ofthe-mine severity of the offense or the otherwise sterling character of the defendant in any relative perspective, or seek to address potential errors by the judge at sentencing?

The circuit court impliedly answered NO.

STATEMENT ON ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Argument is not requested. The limited Wisconsin case law concerning off-duty officer searches makes this case a strong candidate for publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Before this case, Rick Concepcion was known as a hero, and not merely as a reflex to his having served in the military or police. He was special forces (R28:6), and a decorated law enforcement officer (R28.:6-7), with a legacy of founding units: the Winthop Harbor SWAT team, Disaster Services unit, and Mountain Bike Patrol. (R28:7). For eight years he was lead Tactical Flight Officer for the Law Enforcement Aviation Coalition. (R28:7.) He actually was one of the founders of that group. (R60:22-23; R66:14; R68:11) He personally helped save about 1500 lives when his team was one of the first rescue units responding to Hurricane Katrina. (R66:14-15¹)

¹ At one point, Concepcion was inverted in a rescue harness being lowered down to rescue a young boy when they came under fire from citizens angry that they had not yet been rescued. Marissa Alter, ""Katrina, 5 years later: local rescuers reflect" WREX News (Aug 27, 2010) (available at http://www.whpd.org/leac/ news/2010_08-28_WREX_13_Rockford.pdf.) He was among a select group honored by name by the City of Chicago for his services. II J. Proc. City Council City Chi. Ill. 56355-56 (Sept. 14, 2005) (available at https://chicityclerk.com/legislationrecords/journals-and-reports/journals-proceedings).

Then in 2011, Rick Concepcion was charged with possession of child pornography (R1) after his friend and fellow Illinois police officer Dan Bitton found graphic videos while visiting his getaway in Kenosha. (See details below.) This discovery led to a warrant and the subsequent finding of more child pornography in Concepcion's Illinois home as well. (R28:3;R66:7.) The charges ultimately included 17 counts (R22.) Concepcion moved to suppress the Wisconsin evidence as the product of an illegal search. (R23.) After the court ruled that officer Bitton was acting as a private citizen and denied the motion, (R62:16-17), Concepcion pled to ten counts (R26; R63). Concepcion received an aggregate sentence of nine years initial confinement plus six years supervision. (R30; Appx. 101-04; R66:28-29.) He filed a timely postconviction motion raising all the issues in this appeal. (R44; see below.) The postconviction court granted a *Machner*² hearing on the ineffective assistance issue only, (R67:3; R68:3.) after which it left the conviction and sentence intact (R49; Appx. 105; R70:10; Appx. 115).

This appeal followed (R54), charging error in the denial of the suppression motion, and rejection of Concepcion's sentencing contentions – in particular that his heroism was ignored and the relative severity of the offense inflated. The statement of the case divides organically into facts related to the particular issues:

² See State v. Machner, 92 Wis.2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

The Search

Officer Bitton testified at the suppression hearing that he was a 12-or-13-year Winthrop Harbor, Illinois police officer. (R60:7.) He was deputized in Wisconsin as a "police search and rescue helicopter unit commander." (Id.) This afforded no arrest powers. (Id.) It did allow use of police sirens and uniform insignia. (Id.; R60:28.) The court adopted roughly these facts. (R62:14.)

Officer Bitton said he considered Concepcion his dearest friend, inexpressibly close. (R60:8-9.) They did not socialize extensively. (R60:9.) But Concepcion had saved Bitton's life. (R60:17.) Officer Bitton said their shared combat experience gave them a special share-everything relationship. (R60:16.) The court relied only on a finding that they had a "pretty close relationship...they're not strangers." (R62:14.)

On January 18, 2011, he came to a mobile home that Concepcion maintained a few blocks from the Kenosha airport, to sleep before a scheduled morning flight. (R60:9-10; R62:15.) He said he had permission. (R60:16.) At the time, he was off duty. (R60:11; R62:16.) He was not armed or in uniform, nor driving a police vehicle. (R60:25-26.) He was accompanied by his girlfriend. (R60:22,27; R62:15-16.)

It was unresolved whether the next day's flight was civilian or law enforcement: Officer Bitton thought it civilian so far as he could remember. (R60:18-19; R61:5-6.) The court generally did not allow Defense to impeach Officer Bitton by use of his prior inconsistent statements unless they later appeared in an affidavit, (See, e.g., R61:9,11.) His statement that he was in Kenosha for a law enforcement flight was part of the warrant affidavit. (R61:5-6.) The court stated no conclusion until five years after the motion hearing, opining that Bitton was on "vacation." (R70:2; Appx.107.)

Upon entering, Officer Bitton said that he immediately saw in plain view what he recognized as the box for a type of helicopter headset, several of which here missing from the law enforcement aviation group he commanded. (R60:10-11.) These were expensive items. (R60:13.) He said he gave Concepcion the benefit of the doubt that he had them to clean or repair them. (R60:11.) He also told the police that they were potentially stolen. (R61:6-8.) In the next room he found more. (R60:12.) He said the boxes contained headsets, but also that he didn't open them; he did pick them up. (Id.; R60:22.) He intended to collect them and take them back to the hangar. (R60:13.). It may be inferred that he understood the boxes still contained headsets by feeling their weight and stability in his hand.

Officer Bitton spotted some containers and started searching through them for more headsets. (R60:12-13.) He gave no indication that he found anything in the first two, but the court, making an obvious error of fact, misunderstood the record to say Bitton found more headsets in these containers, even relying on this to explain why Officer Bitton went on to the third container. (R62:15.) The third container was locked,

but Bitton had disturbed a key when he was grabbing up headsets, so he tried the key on the container. (R60:12-13, 22.)

When he opened that container, he found "sexual aids" and "DVD type tapes" (R60:13.) The DVDs were labeled in Concepcion's distinctive calligraphy with female names followed by numbers between six and twelve.³ (R60:13-14.) He "assumed" the media contained child pornography. (R60:14.) The Court, in another error, garbles this account and locates the handwritten names and numbers on the outside of the still-unopened box. (R62:16.) Officer Bitton played some of the media, confirming they had sexually explicit material of children of various ages and also older women – because he was "disturbed" and opposed to child pornography. (R60:14.) He then called police in Kenosha and Illinois. (R60:15.)

The Court's Exercise of Sentencing Discretion

The state charged Concepcion with possessing seven .jpg image files, titled C17, C19, C20, and so on. (R22:1-4.) Most were created during a 7-second interval on May 25, 2004. (R1:2.) All had been deleted within a few weeks of creation and had not been accessed since that May or early June. (R1:1-3.) When found, the computer was non-

³ While the description is rife with suggestion, it might be noted that the record does not indicate any specific names. If the labels were "April 10." "May 6," and "June 12," this would also be consistent with the record.

functioning and missing components. (R66:10-11.) Ten videos were charged; the last seven dismissed. (R22:4ff.) Concepcion's computer had 66 more images of "nudity" or "child erotica", not necessarily all illegal.

The pictures ranged from two of sexually posed nudes to two with digital penetration. (R1:1-3.) Two of the undismissed videos depict actual or simulated sex acts between a man and a girl. (R1:3.) One is not described in the record. The dismissed videos depict roughly half sex acts, half genital display. (R1:3ff.) Overall the images seem "somewhat faked" (R66:13.) The youngest subjects looked 4-7 years old. (R66:25.) The record did not indicate depictions of torture, humiliation or violence.

Nothing in the record suggested Concepcion produced, traded, or distributed child pornography, belonged to an online or other circle of offenders, or ever contemplated a contact offense.

His PSI evaluation was generally positive. (R28.) Concepcion was remorseful (R28:9;R66:11-12), and assessed to be at a low risk of reoffending (R28:9.)

At sentencing, the state sought 10 years initial confinement. (R66:4-5.) The defense recommended 3-4 years followed by probation with stayed sentences for remaining counts. (R66:16.) The total sentence of nine years initial confinement plus six years extended supervision (R66:28-29.) was within the range recommended by the DOC (R28:10).

The court stated it would "take everything into consideration." (R66:26.) The sentence objective was general deterrence: the court referred three times to sending a message (R66:27-28) While it once referred to the "need to protect the public because these crimes exist because of people like you" (R66:27), it even related community protection to deterrence: the "best interests of this community is [*sic*] that you pay a price...'cause it sends a message: Whoever you are, if you have child pornography, you go to prison..." (R66:27.)

The court recounted of the subject matter of the pornographic images charged, noting they were "disgusting" (R66:25,27), and generally discussed the harms associated with the offense of possession of child pornography, (R66:24-26).

The court gave a fairly brief, *pro forma* consideration of other sentencing factors. (R66:26-27.) This included notes that Concepcion had no prior record, but pending counts for child pornography in Illinois⁴ (R66:26), and that "your employment, it's outstanding.... I give you credit for that. I don't hold you to a higher standard. I just mention for the record that you have a good employment history" (R66:26-27).

⁴ On October 26, 2012, three months after his Wisconsin sentencing, Defendant pled to one count in Illinois' 17th Judicial Circuit (Winnebago County, Case No. 2011-CF-452) and received a suspended sentence. See http://fce.wincoil.us/fullcourtweb/courtCase.do?CourtCaseId=181055430&PartyId=1653484.

The court rejected any probation or exception to the presumptive minimum penalty because the offense was a Class D felony, and there were ten counts pled. (R66:27.) Ultimately, "all the mitigating circumstances I went through," along with the Defendant's having pled guilty, were the reason the court gave concurrent sentences. (R66:28.) The court said, however, that the consecutive sentences it ordered were appropriate "because they are separate felonies, separate offenses. (R66:28.) The court opted for the period of confinement recommended by the Department of Corrections because their considerations were more comprehensive than the parties." (R66:27-28.)

Defendant's postconviction motion (R44) challenged the sentence arguing *inter alia* (1) that the court had erroneously exercised its discretion by giving excessive weight to sentence severity which was commonplace for this kind of offense, while ignoring mitigators and virtually stating that Concpcion's character did not matter; and (2) that the sentence was unduly harsh.

The Defendant indicated he believed that most of the facts in his postconviction motion were legislative facts requiring no proof. (R67:4.)⁵ Hence, only a *Machner* hearing was ordered, not a general hearing on the motion. Defendant offered to provide documents or other proof as the court required. (R68:26.)

⁵ The court reporter rendered "non-adjudicative" facts as "non-adjudicated" and "Brandeis briefing" as "brandized (sic) briefing."

Ultimately, the court simply stated that it could consider and weigh factors as it considered just (R70:5;Appx.107); and reiterated the basis for its sentence (R70:5-9;Appx.110-14), finding it had not erred (R70:9-10;Appx.114-15), and denying relief (R70:10;Appx.115).

Effectiveness of Sentencing Counsel

Concepcion's counsel was shocked at the recommendation of the DOC because she had understood that probation would be recommended (R68:6-7) and because Concepcion had a "zero risk of re-offending" and had been "very heroic" (R68:7). Yet she did *not* do any of the following (See generally R66 and indicated pages of R68):

- She did not tell the court that apart from the offense conduct, Concepcion's character was "beyond compare," virtually "faultless" or "the best character of anybody I've ever represented that was convicted of a felony" though this is what she thought. (R68:10-11, 18.) The reason was not strategic with regard to Concepcion's case but was looking ahead to future clients. (R68:18.)
- She did not anticipate the state would draw attention to the number of images. (R68:13.) She did not point out that this was in the "lower range" relatively speaking, though she felt in retrospect she "should have." (R68:12.) This would also have shown he was not sharing the images. (R68:11.)

There was no strategic reason for the omission. (R68:13.)

- She did not point out that the character of the images in this case, while all child pornography is extremely disgusting (R68:12), "wasn't the worst" (R68:14). That most were just posing. (R68:15.) She did mention their fake appearance.
- She did not point out the images were all deleted long ago. (R68:15-16). There was no strategic reason for the omission. (R68:16.) She did mention the computer was old and broken.
- She did not contrast Concepcion with the supposedly typical child pornographer who commits contact offenses; did not note that this was absolutely not the case with Concepcion, or note that the recommendations for Concepcion's sentence were twice as harsh as the actual sentence of an earlier client of hers who was known child molester. (R68:8-9, 17-18.) Nor did she cite other cases where the court had given less time for more serious offenses. The thought she would have emphasized the lack of contact offenses (R68:17) and believed she should have contrasted this with the presumed typical offender (R68:18).
- Though she argued that Concepcion did not use his position of authority to commit the offense, and it

should not be used against him, she did not argue that his officer position should be mitigating, either because he had more to lose from a conviction – his entire career and all the respect of the community – or because being an officer is a mark of good character. (R68:20-21.) She presented his commendations and letters of support, but for her failure to argue from them, she had no explanation. (R68:20-21.)

Each of these was demonstrated by the record (R66) and not disputed at the *Machner* hearing (R68). After the sentencing, counsel could not sleep for days, convinced she had done something wrong. (R68:8.) She felt the sentence was "pointless." (R68:8.)

The court reasoned that sentencing counsel was not ineffective because "the only thing the attorney said under oath...she would have done different...was that she would have got a private sentence report" and the court did not know what information that would have included. (R70:3-4;Appx.108-09.)

ARGUMENT

I. Officer Bitton's hunting and poking through Concepcion's home was a police search.

A. Standard of Review

Although the child pornography in this case was seized with the support of a warrant, Defense has argued that the warrant critically relied on information obtained in an illegal search, thus rendering it invalid, such that the evidence should have been suppressed. *See State v. Anderson*, 165 Wis.2d 441, 447-48, 477 N.W.2d 277 (1991). The state did not oppose the view that Officer Bitton's search, if unlawful, would taint the warrant; nor did it argue consent, standing, exigent circumstances or other theories: its sole argument was that Bitton acted in a private capacity. (R24.) Purely private searches do not implicate the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Payano-Roman*, 2006 WI 47, ¶ 17.

This court applies a two-stage inquiry with a mixed standard of review: first, it reviews the circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact for clear error; then it determines independently whether the search was governmental or private. *Id.*, 2006 WI at ¶ 16.

B. The Private-Public Test.

<u>1. The General Case.</u> Three elements are absolutely required for a search to be private: (1) the police may not

initiate, encourage or participate in the private entity's search; (2) the private entity must engage in the activity to further its own ends or purpose; and (3) the private entity must not conduct the search for the purpose of assisting governmental efforts. *Id.*, ¶ 18. Negation of any of these elements is enough to render a search governmental. However, these are not the only factors the court must consider: whether a search is private ultimately relies on a totality of the circumstances. *Id.*, ¶ 21.

Reading elements two and three together implies that a private motive for a search may exist, but the search still be governmental if it also has a governmental purpose. Such was the case in *Payano-Roman*. *Id.*, \P 29.

The Defendant bears the ultimate burden of persuasion by a preponderance of the evidence that the search was governmental. Id., ¶ 23. The state has a production burden. Id.(Logically, this must include assertion of the private purpose of the search, since otherwise that element would be eviscerated by the requirement that Defendant prove a negative by excluding all possible private motivations.)

There are two overlapping reasons why evidence is not suppressed when gathered by purely private actors: First, without state action, the Fourth Amendment falls silent. *See, e.g., Burdeau v. McDowell*, 256 U.S. 465, 475 (1921) (The Fourth Amendment's "origin and history clearly show that it was intended as a restraint upon the activities of sovereign authority, and was not intended to be a limitation upon other than governmental agencies...."). See also New Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325, 334 (1985) (The Fourth Amendment applies to searches conducted by public school officials.); O'Connor v. Ortega, 480 U.S. 709, 714-15 (1987) (noting other applications to state functions). Hence one may garner that "Governmental efforts" in the third part of the Payano-Roman test is not merely a euphemism for such law enforcement activites as arrest and prosecution, but a phrase broadly signifying functions of the state, the prerequisite for state action.

Second, the exclusionary rule developed in particular response to law enforcement, deterring police because of their knowledge of criminal procedure and interest in procuring convictions of criminals. *State v. Bembenek*, 111 Wis.2d 617, 631-32, 331 N.W.2d 616 (Ct. App. 1983). That reasoning does not apply to police, on-duty or off, who have the requisite knowledge and interest in fighting crime to be deterred. *State v. Jenkins*, 80 Wis.2d 426, 431, 259 N.W.2d 109 (1977). The logic of these cases is that a trained police officer will recognize when they have probable cause to believe that a search will produce evidence of a crime, and recognize that such a search is unreasonable without a warrant; there is therefore a rationale for suppressing what they derive from such a search.

2. The Special Case. It is thus a special case when the alleged "private" actor is a member of law enforcement. The mere fact that one has law enforcement as a primary

occupation does not render the search governmental *per se*: the question is the capacity in which the person acts. *State v*. *Cole*, 2008 WI App 178, ¶13. Few Wisconsin decisions have considered when an off-duty officer is acting in an official capacity. Some other jurisdictions do have tests, and *Cole* considered some of these, finding them factually inapplicable, but not addressing their legal merit. *E.g., Id.*, ¶20.

Most authorities agree with some version of the idea that an officer who is formally off-duty does not remain truly so when he or she is confronted with a situation and responds as trained as an officer, unless a private citizen would have reason to respond in the same manner out of private interests. *See, e.g., State v. Andrews*, 637 A.2d 787, 790-91, 33 Conn.App. 590 (Conn. App. 1994.)

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