RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-19-2017

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2016AP1284-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RICARDO L. CONCEPCION,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ANTHONY G. MILISAUSKAS, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The circuit court also considered Concepcion's character. It specifically identified several mitigating factors including Concepcion's acceptance of responsibility (R. 66:24, 28), his lack of a prior record, and his long-term and positive employment history (R. 66:26).

While the circuit court did not directly address the need to protect the public, it recognized that people who watch child pornography create a demand for it. (R. 66:25.) This demand results in the creation of more child pornography and more child victims.

Concepcion candidly acknowledged that his long-term addiction to pornography became a "gateway drug leading to worse things[,]" i.e., child pornography. (R. 28:2.) He also admitted that he became so desensitized that what most people would consider "repulsive and shocking" became "normal" for him. (R. 28:2.) But Concepcion claimed that he was no longer interested in pornography (R. 66:19) and that the computer seized in this case had last been accessed years earlier (R. 66:10–11). The circuit court could reasonably view Concepcion's lack of interest with skepticism, noting that Concepcion claimed that he wanted to get rid of the pornography in 2010 but never did so. (R. 66:24.) In light of Concepcion's long-term addiction, the circuit court could reasonably conclude that Concepcion was still addicted to child pornography and that the prison sentence it imposed was necessary to protect the public.

When the circuit court denied Concepcion's postconviction motion, the circuit court reviewed its exercise of sentencing discretion. It rejected the assertion that it did not properly apply the *Gallion* sentencing factors. (R. 70:5.) It noted how it credited Concepcion for accepting responsibility for his crimes, the seriousness of the offenses, and several positive factors related to his character. (R. 70:8–9.) The circuit court then explained why a prison sentence was appropriate based on the seriousness of the crimes and how it arrived at a sentence that was less than the sentence that either the State or the presentence report recommended. (R. 70:9–10.)

Based on this record, Concepcion's sentence is the product of the circuit court's reasoned and reasonable exercise of sentencing discretion. Concepcion has failed to demonstrate that the circuit court erroneously exercised its sentencing discretion when it imposed a sentence far less than the maximum sentence possible for his crimes.

E. Concepcion's arguments notwithstanding, the circuit court properly exercised its sentencing discretion and was not unduly harsh.

Concepcion criticizes the circuit court for failing to acknowledge all of his positive accomplishments. (Concepcion's Br. 26.) While the circuit court did not expressly address each of Concepcion's accomplishments, it was aware of them through the presentence report, trial counsel's arguments, and letters submitted on his behalf.³ (R. 28:6–7; 66:2, 13–14.) The circuit court was not required to identify each piece of information it considered. It was only required to discuss those sentencing factors that it believed were relevant. *Stenzel*, 276 Wis. 2d 224, ¶ 16 (citation omitted). The circuit court was simply required to provide "rational and explainable" basis for its sentence. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 39 (citation omitted). As demonstrated in the preceding section, the circuit court provide a rational and explainable basis for its sentence based on the factors it deemed appropriate.

Concepcion criticizes the circuit court for placing too much weight on the severity of his offense. Because Concepcion did not possess as many images as some offenders possess, Concepcion suggests that his conduct "fits somewhere between mild and unremarkable" and that he is merely a "dabbler." (Concepcion's Br. 27–28.) Even accepting Concepcion's characterization that his conduct was "about average" or "simply the norm among [child pornography] offenders" (Concepcion's Br. 29), possession of child pornography is nonetheless a serious offense. The legislature certainly determined that the pernicious nature of child pornography is so serious that it presumptively warrants a minimum confinement term in most cases. See Wis. Stat. § 939.617(2). And here. while Concepcion's crimes constituted serious offenses, the circuit court imposed a sentence far less than the maximum possible sentence.

Concepcion asserts that the circuit court "ignored" several mitigating factors including his cooperation, plea, acceptance of responsibility, and remorsefulness. (Concepcion's Br. 29.) The record belies this assertion. The circuit court noted that Concepcion entered a no contest plea

³ The letters do not appear to be part of the record.

(R. 66:23) and that he has never denied his conduct (R. 66:24; 70:7).

Concepcion also challenges the harshness of his sentence, contending that the circuit court should have considered sentences given to other, similarly situated offenders, especially codefendants. (Concepcion's Br. 34.) Concepcion's case does not involve a codefendant. But even if it did, this Court has recognized that a codefendant's sentence, though relevant to a circuit court's sentencing decision, is not controlling. *State v. Giebel*, 198 Wis. 2d 207, 221, 541 N.W.2d 815 (Ct. App.1995).

Characterizing his sentence as an outlier, Concepcion contends that he received an unduly harsh sentence compared to other persons convicted of possession of child pornography. (Concepcion's Br. 34–36.) In support of his argument, Concepcion selectively references a handful of cases—fewer than a dozen state cases and two federal cases. While Concepcion and the other defendants referenced in his brief may have been convicted of the same crimes. Concepcion does not provide the necessary information from which this Court could reasonably conclude that these other defendants were actually "similarly situated" to him. This Court is not obligated to sift the record for facts to support Concepcion's argument. It should decline to address an argument that Concepcion has inadequately developed. See State v. McMorris, 2007 WI App 231, ¶ 30, 306 Wis. 2d 79, 742 N.W.2d 322.

Further, Concepcion's rudimentary comparison of his sentence to other sentences imposed for the same conduct ignores the supreme court's admonition that "[i]ndividualized sentencing . . . has long been a cornerstone to Wisconsin's criminal justice jurisprudence." *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 48. As the supreme court has recognized, no two offenders "stand before the sentencing court on identical footing . . . and no two cases will present identical factors." *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 427, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998) (citation omitted).

Concepcion also argues that the circuit court's imposition of consecutive sentences constituted an erroneous exercise of discretion and resulted in an unduly harsh sentence. (Concepcion's Br. 31, 37–41.) Concepcion does not dispute the circuit court's authority to impose consecutive sentences. But he suggests that sentencing courts should follow the practice under the federal guidelines "that offenses will be 'grouped' so that additional penalties for multiple offenses is additive rather than multiplicative." (Concepcion's Br. 38–39.) Concepcion's comparison to federal sentencing procedures is a non-starter because Wisconsin courts "are not bound by a sentencing rubric applicable only to the federal courts." *State v. Kaczynski*, 2002 WI App 276, ¶ 11 n.1, 258 Wis. 2d 653, 654 N.W.2d 300.

Relying on *Hall*, Concepcion asserts that the circuit court should only impose consecutive sentences in a manner consistent with the ABA Standards for Criminal Justice Sentencing. (Concepcion's Br. 39.) For several reasons, Concepcion misplaces his reliance on *Hall*. In *Hall*, this Court vacated consecutive sentences that resulted in a 304year sentence because none of the underlying offenses carried a life term and the sentencing court failed to explain how the relevant sentencing factors yielded Hall's sentence. Hall, 255 Wis. 2d 662, ¶ 1. In contrast, the circuit court sentenced Concepcion in a manner that resulted in a total sentence on all counts that was less than the maximum possible penalties for a conviction for a single count of possession of child pornography. Further, unlike the sentencing court in *Hall*, the circuit court here explained the basis for its sentence. Finally, Concepcion's advocacy for applying the ABA standards for imposing consecutive sentences ignores the supreme court's repeated refusal to accept guidelines or limitations on consecutive sentences.

State v. Paske, 163 Wis. 2d 52, 66, 471 N.W.2d 55 (1991). As the supreme court explained, "We adhere to our prior decisions which give deference to legislative enactment and judicial discretion, and therefore do not adopt any limitations on consecutive sentencing." *Id.* at 67–68.

* * * * *

The circuit court reasonably exercised its sentencing discretion. While the circuit court could have placed greater weight on Concepcion's positive characteristics, it placed greater weight on the seriousness of Concepcion's crimes. Concepcion's sentence is not unduly harsh, but the product of a reasoned sentencing process.

III. Concepcion received effective assistance counsel.

A. Standard of Review.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 40, ¶ 19, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695. This Court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. "[T]he circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy" are considered findings of fact. *State v. Jenkins*, 2014 WI 59, ¶ 38, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786. Whether counsel's performance was ineffective presents a legal question that this Court reviews independently, benefiting from the circuit court's analysis. *Id*.

B. General legal principles.

A criminal defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); and *State v. Sanchez*, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 226–36, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996). A defendant alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel has the burden of proving both that counsel's performance was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. If the defendant fails to establish one prong of the test, the court need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

To prove deficient performance, the defendant must show that his counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" considering all the circumstances. *Id.* at 688. The defendant must demonstrate that specific acts or omissions of counsel fell "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.* at 690.

To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must affirmatively prove that the alleged deficient performance prejudiced him. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. The defendant must show something more than that counsel's errors had a conceivable effect on the proceeding's outcome. *Id*. Rather, the defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id*. at 694.

- C. Concepcion has not met his burden of demonstrating that trial counsel was ineffective.
 - 1. Trial counsel did not perform deficiently at Concepcion's sentencing hearing.

Trial counsel provided constitutionally effective representation to Concepcion before and during his sentencing hearing. Before the sentencing hearing, she submitted numerous letters to the circuit court on Concepcion's behalf. (R. 66:2.) Trial counsel also reviewed the presentence report with Concepcion, noting several corrections to the report that the circuit court accepted. (R. 66:2–5).

At the hearing, trial counsel reminded the circuit court that the child pornography had been seized from a computer that was broken and that it had last been accessed years earlier. (R. 66:10–11.) This fact reinforced her client's statement in the presentence that he intended to get rid of the child pornography. (R. 28:3.) While acknowledging the seriousness of child pornography generally, trial counsel noted that Concepcion downloaded the images from the Internet rather than having children pose for him. (R. 66:13.) While he had access to minors, trial counsel emphasized that there was not even a "shadow of a suggestion" that Concepcion offended against minors. (R. 66:16.)

Trial counsel argued that Concepcion had only received a lengthy recommendation "just because he was a police officer." (R. 66:11.) Trial counsel reasonably explained to the circuit court that his status as a police officer should not trigger a more serious penalty because he did not use his status to commit his crimes. (R. 66:14.)

Trial counsel also noted Concepcion's positive character, including his favorable employment history and his volunteer work with the helicopter rescue organization. (R. 66:14–15.) Trial counsel's comments reinforced many of the positive aspects of Concepcion's character noted in the presentence report. (R. 28:6–8.) In support of her claims regarding Concepcion's good character, she reminded the circuit court of the positive letters that private persons had submitted on Concepcion's behalf. (R. 66:14.) Finally, trial counsel also argued that Concepcion was a low risk to reoffend based on the risk assessment in the presentence report. (R. 26:99; 66:11–12.) There was nothing deficient about trial counsel's performance. She did her best to minimize the seriousness of Concepcion's serious crimes. Trial counsel pointed out Concepcion's good character as demonstrated through his employment and volunteer history, the letters of support, and his low risk of re-offense. That the circuit court assessed the relevant sentencing considerations differently than Concepcion's trial counsel viewed them does not render her performance deficient.

Nonetheless, Concepcion asserts that his trial counsel performed deficiently. He claims that at the postconviction hearing, his trial counsel "testified repeatedly that she should have mentioned things she did not, that she had no strategic reason, or no reason at all, for her omissions." (Concepcion's Br. 43, citing R. 68:13.) In fact, at the postconviction hearing, trial counsel stated, "I still have no idea of what I should have done differently." (R. 68:13.) She did acknowledge that perhaps, in hindsight, that she should have obtained a private presentence report. But even then, trial counsel recognized that she is not sure "whether that would have made a big difference, I don't know." (R. 68:14.)

challenge Concepcion's his trial counsel's to performance is grounded in hyperbole rather than substance. He accuses his trial counsel of making a "wholly inadequate plain vanilla response . . . Her main mistake was not realizing the need to step it up." (Concepcion's Br. 42.) Concepcion suggests that if only he had received "a fullthroated defense . . . it seems improbable that his sentence would have been so anomalously severe." (Concepcion's Br. 43–44.) Concepcion's claim that he would have received a different sentence had trial counsel performed more vigorously is, at best, highly speculative. When the circuit court denied Concepcion's postconviction motion, it observed that it "obviously makes the final determination as to the sentence" after the State and defense make their

recommendations. (R. 70:4.) Noting that the presentence report included mitigating and positive information about Concepcion, the circuit court reasonably questioned whether a private presentence would have actually provided different information. (*Id.*)

Based on this record, the circuit court reasonably concluded that trial counsel did not perform deficiently. (R. 70:4.) Concepcion has not established that his trial counsel performed deficiently.

2. Any deficiencies in trial counsel's representation did not prejudice Concepcion.

Concepcion has also failed to prove that if trial counsel had performed differently, the outcome of his sentencing proceeding would have been different. For example, he argues that a private presentence memorandum "could have contained [] facts or arguments that were available and not raised to the court." (Concepcion's Br. 44.)

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